A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Eric Hood ("Hood") requests this Court to review the decision 

issued by the Court of Appeals, Division I, in Hood v. South Whidbey 

School District, and designated in Part B of this petition. 

B. DECISION BELOW 

Division I's Opinion No. ("Opinion") ruled that the South Whidbey 

School District's search was adequate while its productions were 

untimely, and remanded on the issue of attorney fees. Appendix A. The 

reconsideration motion was subsequently denied. Appendix B. 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Is it in the public's interest for this Court to clarify, in 

Public Records Act cases, the evidentiary standards for affidavits relied on 

by agencies and courts to determine the adequacy of an agency's 

searches? 

2. Should courts Ignore relevancy m rev1ewmg agency 

affidavits? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Following his termination from employment, Eric Hood ("Hood"), 

requested records in June and July of 2011 from the South Whidbey 

School District ("District"). CP 2811 (Declaration of Superintendent Jo 
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Moccia ("Moccia Decl.")). 1 After providing some but not all responsive 

records the District closed its response to those requests in October of 

2011. CP 2814. 

In July, August and October of 2011 Hood requested and received 

records from public agencies who had communicated with the District. 

They produced District records to him that were or had once been in the 

District's possession. Hood's Opening Brief ("Opening Br.") p. 14, (Table 

1.2) Some records, including District-created emails, were responsive to 

Hood's July requests that the District hadn't disclosed to him. Id 

Other agency's disclosures of District records prompted Hood in 

November of2011 to make a request to the District that it characterized as 

"largely duplicative" of his previous ones. CP 2815. It claimed to have 

1 His requests involved primarily records about himself, his family, and various District 
programs related to his former employment. Opening Br., pp. 3-6. 

2 Tabular summary of records disclosed by other agencies that references Hood's 
Responsive Document Worksheet. The Responsive Document Worksheet ("RDW'') lists 
descriptions and creation dates of documents that the District withheld or withholds, 
destroyed, or untimely provided. By looking at the intersection of the listed document 
and the date(s) of Hood's request to the District, the reader can determine whether the 
document was responsive (Y) or not (N) to a particular request. For example, line 4 
shows an email disclosed to Hood by the Arlington School District from McCarthy to 
Johnson. Its creation date of"3/llll" shows it is responsive to item 8 of Hood's July 10, 
2011 request, item 20 ofhis July 14,2011 request, and item 1 ofhis November 1, 2011 
request to the District. For another example, line 5 shows an email mentioning "audit" 
from Pfeiffer to Houck disclosed by the District on December 16, 20 11. Since its creation 
date was "03/18111 ," it was responsive to Hood's July 14, 2011 request item # 17 which 
asks for audit records. The RDW was labeled Appendix 3 and attached to Plaintiff's 
summary judgment motion. CP 972-990. 
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completed its response to Hood's November 2011 request on January 2, 

2012. 3 CP 2815-2816. The District's relevant productions responsive to 

Hood's summer and fall of 2011 requests ("2011 Requests") were 

provided to him on four CD-ROMs. CP 2814-2816. 

Hood subsequently received productions from other public 

agencies that again included District-created records, including emails, not 

disclosed to him by the District, though responsive to his previous 

requests. Opening Br., pp. 14-15 (Table 1 ). Hood then filed this lawsuit 

against the District on June 8, 2012. CP 2816. Soon after Hood filed this 

lawsuit, other public agencies from whom Hood had requested records 

again produced District-created records to him, including emails 

responsive to Hood's 2011 requests that the District had not disclosed to 

him. Opening Br. pp. 14-15 (Table 1). 

In September of 2012, the District provided Hood a "supplemental 

production" that was "undertaken" in response to Hood's lawsuit. CP 

2815-2816. It contained records discovered during the District's third--

i.e., "another review" of its "files." Id Those purportedly included the 

3 Records produced to Hood on December 21, 20 II contained duplicate records that were 
provided by CD-ROM on December 16, 2011 and are not relevant to this action. CP 
28I5-2816. Records emailed on January 2, 2012 contained only attorney invoices. 
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"review" of the files of over 40 separate employees named by Hood in his 

2011 requests whose files the District repeatedly promised to search. 4 

The "supplemental production" was comprised entirely of 

hardcopy records from binders that had, on counsel's advice purportedly 

been placed in the District's records storage vault on or before June 15, 

2011 and then purportedly forgotten. 5 CP 1510. Many of the hardcopy 

emails produced from the vault included headers reading "printed by Brian 

Miller" on various dates in July and August of2011. CP 2677-2728. That 

is, the headers showed the records were electronically printed after June 

15, 2011 - i.e., during the time that they were purportedly locked and 

forgotten in the vault. CP 2677-2728, and see discussion, Opening Br., pp. 

23-24. District Technology Director Brian Miller ("Miller") testified that 

he searched only email databases and was unaware of the existence of the 

binders. CP 1220. 

Hood made records requests to the District until June 14, 2014, 

many of which "essentially" repeated his summer and fall of 2011 

4 See CP 1015-1023, items 8, 10. (Moccia's promise to search for "any'' records from 
"district administrators" and "any records about you from listed staff members," named 
in Hood's requests), and CP 1080-1083 (Moccia's response to Hood's November 2011 
request promising to "again search all of our electronic and non-electronic files for any 
records" including "agent" records), and see, Reply Br., pp, 8-10 (discussion). 

5 The District does not dispute a federal court order stating that "all" the records in the 
"supplemental production" came from hardcopies in the vault. CP 754. 
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requests. Opinion, p. 3. The District repeatedly produced records until 

September 29, 2014 many of which were untimely responsive to Hood's 

2011 Requests, including numerous emails. Opening Br., pp. 6-14, and 

Opening Br. Appendices 1, 2. 6 Those later productions of previously 

undisclosed records after January 2012 resulted from District searches of, 

among other file locations, Hood's work computer (Opening Br., pp. 8-9); 

District "computer systems" including its email system, and the untimely 

searches of the computers of a few District employees (CP 2819). They 

also included the production of a CD-ROM containing thousands of 

records the District mistakenly believed it had earlier produced to Hood. 7 

On March 28, 2014, the District submitted its summary judgment 

motion, including declarations regarding searches performed three years 

earlier.8 On December 15, 2014, the trial court ruled that the District's 

search for records responsive to Hood's 2011 Requests was reasonable but 

untimely with regards to two of Hood's proposed groupings. CP 218-242. 

Its fmding extensively cited District affidavits as evidence of the 

reasonableness of its search. !d. On December 22, 2014 Hood filed a 

6 Appendices show later District productions responsive to Hood's previous requests. 

7 Yet another District affidavit evasively admitted the District had not previously 
provided the contents of that CD "in its entirety" to Hood. CP 3051. Its statement that 
Hood was "not prejudice[ d)" by that untimely disclosure is conclusory. Id 

8 CP 2807-2862, and CP 2591-2602 (Moccia and Miller Decl.). 
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motion for reconsideration with the trial court. CP 160-215. He argued 

that new evidence showed the District failed, as it had repeatedly 

promised, to search numerous records locations specified in Hood's 

summer of2011 requests. !d. The motion was denied on February 9, 2015. 

CP 47-48. 

On August 3, 2015 Hood filed an appeal with the Division I 

Appeals Court (" Division I"). He showed the District continually violated 

the PRA in responding to Hood's records requests. Hood's Opening Br. 

Referring to numbered paragraphs in the trial court's Findings, he showed 

how the trial court erred by: finding the District's search was reasonable; 

penalizing the District only for untimely disclosures; subsuming all found 

violations into two groups while denying all others; improperly applying 

mitigating and aggravating factors to its penalty calculations; calculating 

the lengths of time of violations; denying Hood's Motion for 

Reconsideration which showed that the District's searches were 

unreasonable and the penalty period should have been extended to 

September 29, 2014; and denying some attorney fees. !d., p.2. He argued 

that the trial court's ruling was grounded in unreliable District affidavits. 

Reply Br., pp. 8-20. 

In rejecting Hood's appeal, Division I found the declarations of 

Moccia and Brian Miller, the District Technology Manager ("Miller"), to 
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be of "particular interest." Opinion, p.13. On the afternoon of September 

26, 2016 Hood asked Division I to reconsider the District's reliance on its 

affidavits. Hood's Motion for Reconsideration. He argued that District 

affidavits were unreliable; the District's initial searches could not have 

been adequate since it ignored systematic records destruction; and over the 

course of three years it repeatedly, untimely produced records responsive 

to Hood's 2011 Requests. !d., pp 5-14. The next day Division I denied, 

without comment, Hood's Motion for Reconsideration. 

E. ARGUMENT 

1. Agency Affidavits Require A Higher Evidentiary Standard 
To Ensure That Agencies Bear The Proper Burden Of Proof 
Required By the Public Records Act And This Court. 

RCW 42.56.550 authorizes citizen suits to enforce the PRA. It says 

in relevant part, 

The burden of proof shall be on the agency to establish that refusal 
to permit public inspection and copying is in accordance with a 
statute [and] to show that the estimate it provided is reasonable. 

RCW 42.56.550 (emphasis added). Thus, whether disclosure is delayed or 

denied altogether, the agency must justify withholding requested public 

records. Moreover, when an agency claims there are no responsive 

records, "the agency bears the burden, beyond material doubt, of showing 

its search was adequate." Neighborhood Alliance of Spokane County v. 

County of Spokane, 172 Wn.2d 702, 721, 261 P.3d 119 (2011) (emphasis 
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added). 1bis is because "failure to perform an adequate search precludes 

an adequate response and production [and is] comparable to a denial 

because the result is the same." Id Thus, the evidentiary standard for 

affidavits must accord with the intent and language of the PRA and this 

Court's rulings. Division I's reliance on conclusory statements contained 

in District affidavits conflicts with a Supreme court decision stating that 

agencies "may rely on reasonably detailed, nonconclusory affidavits 

submitted in good faith. "9 !d. 

The District's affidavits are comprised of hundreds of statements, 

some of which are obviously conclusory. Thus the question: if an agency 

affidavit contains both conclusory and nonconclusory statements, how 

should courts consider the affidavit? While an affidavit can contain some 

inadmissible statements, District affidavits contained many conclusory, 

hence inadmissible statements regarding crucial facts. 1bis Court must 

therefore consider whether Division I's reliance on them was justified. 

In public records cases, the importance of defining a 

"nonconclusory affidavit" is amplified for three reasons. First, "A public 

records case can be decided on affidavits alone." O'Neill v. City of 

Shoreline, 170 Wn.2d 138, 152-54, 240 P.3d 1149 (2010). Second, the 

9 "A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only (I) If the decision of 
the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court" RAP 13 
4(b)(4). 
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tradition of judicial deference to agency decisions can influence a court's 

PRA decision. 10 Third, courts heavily rely on them to determine the 

adequacy of an agency's search. Given the singular importance of an 

agency's affidavits in a Public Records Act ("PRA") case, what 

constitutes a "nonconclusory affidavit" should therefore require a definite 

and high standard. 

2. Agency Affidavits Have Been Used to Hinder Access To 
Public Records. 

Legislative intent and case law clearly mandates ''the broad 

disclosure of public records," and liberal construal of the PRAto ensure 

"public control over its government." Opinion, p. 7-8 (citations omitted.) 

When a court relies on conclusory affidavits it leaves "interpretation of the 

act to those at whom it was aimed [which is] the most direct course to its 

devitalization." Hearst Corp. v. Hoppe, 90 Wn.2d 123, 131, 580 P.2d 246 

(1978lAgency practices do not always reflect the PRA's mandates. 

At all times, both before and after a requestor files a lawsuit, the 

agency controls where and how effectively it stores, organizes and 

searches for public records. Regardless of their effectiveness, agencies are 

10 "When reviewing factual issues, the substantial evidence standard is highly deferential 
to the agency fact finder. When an agency determination is based heavily on factual 
matters that are complex, technical, and close to the heart of the agency's expertise, we 
give substantial deference to agency views." Chandler v. Office of Ins. Comm'r, 141 
Wash. App. 639, 648, 173 P.3d 275 (2007) (citing Hillis v. Dep't of Ecology, 131 Wn.2d 
373, 396, 932 P.2d 139 (1997), ARCO Prods. Co. v. Utils. & Transp. Comm'n, 125 
Wn.2d 805, 812, 888 P.2d 728 (1995)). 

9 



motivated to show themselves, through affidavits, in the best possible 

light. But a public record's potential to embarrass, or worse, can influence 

a public agency's response. See Yousoufian v. King County, 168 Wn.2d 

444, 456, 229 P.3d 735 (2010) (an agency told a requester ''that it had 

produced all the requested documents, when in fact it had not [and] that 

archives were being searched and records compiled, when that was not 

correct." Worse, conclusory statements in an agency affidavit can hinder 

access to public records - e.g., "a question of fact" arose because, for 

reasons that were "not apparent" to the court, "an affidavit in the record" 

referred to a document with numerous "missing" pages. Progressive 

Animal Welfare Soc'y v. Univ. of Wash., 125 Wn. 2d 243, 269, 272, 884 

P.2d 592 (1994) ("PAWS"). 

Given their potential for misuse, this Court should determine a) the 

extent to which agencies may rely on partially or wholly conclusory 

affidavits, b) the level of scrutiny with which courts should examine those 

affidavits, and c) the level of deference afforded to agency affidavits in a 

PRA case. In short, the singular importance of affidavits in PRA cases is 

an "issue of substantial public interest" whose review is justified. 11 

11 "A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only if the petition 
involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme 
Court." RAP 13.4(b)(4). 
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3. Conclusory Statements in District Affidavits show that This 
Court Must Defme And Clarify the Evidentiary Standard For 
Agency Affidavits In Public Records Act Cases. 

A "conclusory" statement expresses "a factual inference without 

stating the underlying facts on which the inference is based." Black's 

Law Dictionary 308 (8th ed. 2004)). It follows that "conclusory, self-

serving affidavits, lacking detailed facts and any supporting evidence, is 

insufficient to create a genuine issue of material fact." Brenner v. Port of 

Bellingham, 53 Wn. App. 182, 187, 765 P. 2d 1333 (1989). Since agency 

affidavits primarily determine "genuine issues of material fact" in a PRA 

case, then how many, if any, conclusory statements should courts accept in 

a single affidavit? And how many, if any, conclusory or partially 

conclusory affidavits should determine whether an agency's total 

affidavits are cumulatively conclusory? 

The District's juxtaposition of nonconclusory statements alongside 

carefully crafted conclusory statements, make it appear that some 

affidavits are cumulatively nonconclusory. (See, e.g., citations to some 

factual District affidavit statements in Statement of the Case, supra.) 

Despite the inclusion of many conclusory statements, District affidavits 

nonetheless persuaded lower courts that the District adequately responded 

in good faith. 

11 



[N]onconclusory declarations from District employees provide 
significant detail about the type of search performed, the search 
terms utilized, and the locations searched. On these facts, it is clear 
that the District's searches were reasonably calculated to uncover 
all relevant documents. 

Opinion, p. 20 (emphasis added). But conclusory statements embedded in 

partially nonconclusory affidavits are not facts. A careful analysis of the 

complete record, including Moccia's and Miller's carefully crafted 

declarations, shows that in response to Hood's 2011 Requests, only one 

District employee, Miller, searched only one file location: a defective 

email system that he knew automatically deleted emails within 45 days of 

their creation. Motion for Reconsideration, pp. 6-11. 

Other crucial affidavit statements are similarly conclusory. For 

example, the record shows no communications between Moccia and the 

multiple "staff' whose "files" she purports to have repeatedly "directed" 

them to search. The District points to the declaration of Moccia's 

"assistant" as evidence of her purported directives to multiple employees. 

CP 2812-2813 and District's Response Br., p. 34. Division I noted that the 

secretary, 

testified that if Hood's requests "pertained to anything that [she] 
might have had on [her] computer, [she] would search for it." This 
is consistent with Moccia's statement. 

Opinion, p. 20. Not only does the secretary's ambiguous statement make it 

conclusory, it is clearly inconsistent with other of Moccia's statements. 

12 



Hood's Motion for Reconsideration, p. 10 (summarizing some conflicted, 

hearsay or unsupported statements in Moccia's Declaration). 

To support its fmding that District affidavits regarding its searches 

were nonconclusory, Division I extensively cited a "processing matrix" 

purportedly created by Brian Miller in response to Hood's July 2011 

Requests. Opinion, p. 17-18. Such extensive citation was not warranted. 

First, the matrix was itself responsive to Hood's November 2011 request, 

but was not produced to him until February 5, 2014Y Second, the 

matrix's metadata, requested by Hood and promised by the District, would 

reveal its date of creation but continues to be withheld.13 Third, Miller's 

declaration does not specify when he created the matrix.14 Although the 

evidence suggests the matrix was created in 2014, this Court cannot justly 

infer an earlier creation date. It should therefore be viewed as a self-

serving document in support of a conclusory declaration and/or evidence 

of an inadequate search. 

12 See CP 972-990, No. 417 (showing date of disclosure) andCP 1080-1083 (November 
request and response). The matrix existed in hardcopy form in Miller's office but he 
inexplicably did not timely find it. CP 2799 (Miller Decl.) 

13 See CP 1009-1014, 1046-1048, 1080-1083 (Hood's repeated requests for metadata) 
and CP 1015-23 (Moccia's repeated promises to provide "all associated metadata."). 

14 The latter two facts also apply to the matrix associated with Hood's November 2011 
request. 
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Apparently paraphrasing Neighborhood Alliance language, 

Division I, found that the matrix "provide[ d] significant detail about the 

type of search performed, the search terms utilized, and the locations 

searched." Opinion, p. 20. But that matrix, even if it were wholly credible, 

and even if the declarations of Moccia and Miller were wholly 

nonconclusory, they still do not "establish that all places likely to contain 

responsive materials were searched." Neighborhood Alliance, 172 Wn.2d 

at 721. Division I not only relied upon conclusory affidavit statements but 

misinterpreted this Court's Neighborhood Alliance ruling in order to 

conclude that the District's search was adequate. Similarly, Division I 

relied on conclusory affidavit statements to excuse the District's failure to 

timely repair its defective email system.15 

4. Crucial But Conclusory Affidavit Statements Should Not 
Shield The District From Its Burden of Proof Regarding Its 
Destruction Of Records. 

Hood's claim that District affidavit statements regarding records 

destruction are conclusory can only be challenged by evidence to the 

contrary. 16 The District provides no such rebutting evidence. Instead, the 

District's September 2014 discovery of emails (responsive to Hood's July 

15 Individual employees can still permanently delete emails. Opening Br., p. 29, item 7. 

16 "A presumption is not evidence; its efficacy is lost when the opposite party adduces 
prima facie evidence to the contrary." Amend v. Bell, 89 Wn.2d 124, 128, 570 P.2d 138 
(1977) (citing Bates v. Bowles White & Co., 56 Wn.2d 374,353 P.2d 663 (1960)). 
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2011 requests) that had previously been auto-deleted from the District's 

email system shows that the District did not perform a timely, adequate 

search. CP 160-215 (Hood's trial court Motion for Reconsideration). 

Furthermore, the record shows no communications between 

Records Officer Moccia or Miller and Google technicians or District 

employees regarding the unmitigated systematic destruction of public 

emails relevant to Hood's state and federal lawsuits.17 Thus, Division I' s 

conclusion that Miller "reported the problem to Google and it was 

addressed going-forward," was based on Miller's ambiguous, conclusory 

and clearly self-serving statements. Opinion, p. 18; see CP 2797 (Miller 

Decl). Conclusory statements do not bear the PRA's required burden of 

proof regarding an agency's duty to preserve requested records. 

RCW 42.56.100 says in relevant part: "Agencies shall protect 

public records from damage or disorganization [and] and may not destroy 

or erase the record until the request is resolved." The duty to preserve 

records is similar to the duty to search obvious locations - i.e., it is a 

prerequisite to an adequate production. When interpreting the Public 

Records Act, courts "look at the Act in its entirety in order to enforce the 

law's overall purpose." Rental Housing Assoc. of Puget Sound v. City of 

17 In December 2011, Hood sued the District in federal court, and in state court 7 months 
later. CP 1242-1243. 
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Des Moines, 165 Wn.2d 525, 536, 199 P.3d 393 (2008). Courts give effect 

to all language in the statute and harmonize all its provisions. Ockerman v. 

King County Department of Development & Environmental Services, 102 

Wn. App. 212, 216, 6 P.3d 1214 (2000). Thus, this Court must harmonize 

RCW 42.56.550(1), which requires agencies to prove that a "refusal to 

permit public inspection and copying" is authorized by an exemption, with 

RCW 42.56.1 00, which requires agencies to protect records for purposes 

of granting inspection and copying requests. 

Construing the PRA as a whole according to its purpose of 

maximizing disclosure places the burden of proof on an agency to prove 

that it legally protected records. Under RCW 42.56.070(1), only an 

applicable exemption can justify the refusal to produce a record once it has 

been requested. Under RCW 42.56.100, disorganization and destruction 

are not excuses for denying access. Under RCW 42.56.550(1 ), the agency 

has the burden of proving that any "refusal to permit public inspection and 

copying" is based on an applicable exemption. Therefore, when, as here, 

an agency claims that it could not fmd a requested record, it has the 

burden of proof to show that pursuant to RCW 42.56.550(1) its refusal to 

produce the record was not due to an inadequate search, inept 

organization, or unlawful destruction. 
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Losing or destroying a requested record is as much a "refusal" as 

failing to conduct a reasonable search because it denies access without 

good cause. In sum, the agency must prove that its admitted destruction of 

a record was lawful, just as it must prove that its search was reasonable. 

RCW 42.56.550(1 ); RCW 42.56.550(2); Neighborhood Alliance, 172 

Wn.2d at 721. Thus, when an agency claims a requested record was lost or 

destroyed, it has the same burden of proof as in any other situation when 

the requester is unable to inspect or copy a record. RCW 42.56.550(1 ); 

Neighborhood Alliance, 172 Wn.2d at 721. Since no evidence shows the 

District tried to mitigate its ongoing records destruction or search in 

alternative locations for the records it knew it had destroyed, then its 

affidavits do not establish that that it met the burden of proof required by 

the PRA and this Court. 

5. Division I' s Opinion Ignores The Relevancy Of The 
District's Multiple Untimely Productions. 

A review of case law does not fmd a single instance where, as 

here, a closely counseled agency in careful control of its production dates 

was found to have performed both an adequate and untimely search. 18 The 

many searches undertaken after the District's September 2012 

"supplemental" production and continuing until September 2014 would 

18 CP 2597-2674 (District attorney invoices referencing Hood's requests.) and CP 1009-
1014, 1046-1051 (showing District control over estimates and production dates.) 
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have constituted the fourth, or in some cases, fifteenth or eighteenth search 

and review of the files of District employees and records locations that the 

District knew about or promised to search in July of 2011. Many of those 

searches produced emails responsive to Hood's 2011 Requests. CP 972-

990 (RDW, discussed fn 2, supra; emails denoted as "em"). Even the 

District 

acknowledged that, despite its efforts, its searches did not 
immediately uncover every document responsive to Hood's July 
and November 2011 requests and that multiple productions 
occurred before those requests were completely fulfilled. 

Response Br., p. 7. By unquestioningly accepting that acknowledgement, 

Division I ignored the extraordinary relevancy of the District's multiple 

untimely productions. 

While considering agency responses to "both discovery and 

subsequent PRA requests" in which a requestor sought to understand why 

or how records were withheld, this Court stated, "[r]elevancy in 

a PRA action, then, includes why documents were withheld, destroyed, or 

even lost." Neighborhood Alliance. 172 Wn.2d at 718 (emphasis in 

original). As here, where records were withheld, destroyed, lost, and 

untimely produced, this Court must consider whether or to what extent 

courts may rely on agency affidavit statements that contradict one another, 

evidence, and physical laws. 
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The District's perfunctory acknowledgment, supra, and conclusory 

affidavit statements do not explain why its searches were untimely or 

explain the many relevant, unexplained events discussed supra and 

previously. See, e.g., Hood's Reply Br., pp. 8-20. In short, separately from 

the crucial issue of "conclusoriness," this Court should determine whether 

Division I justly ignored "relevancy" in favor of agency affidavits. Since 

relevancy IS essential in determining culpability and penalty 

determinations, this issue is clearly of "substantial public interest" per 

RAP 13.4(b)(4). Moreover, here, as in the Alliance ruling, examining 

relevancy would determine whether the District's multiple untimely 

productions resulted from inadvertency, as the District's conclusory 

affidavits claim, or recklessness, as Hood avers in concordance with 

evidence. 

Since evidence is relevant to a determination of the adequacy of an 

agency's search -- especially when it destroyed or untimely produced 

records -- an agency must provide and courts must rely on other than 

conclusory statements embedded in partially nonconlusory affidavits. In 

other words, given an agency's exclusive control over both public records 

and its searches, this Court must set a high evidentiary standard for 

"nonconclusory affidavits" that agencies, requesters and courts may rely 

on. Doing so may help mitigate often contentious relationships among all 
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parties. Failing to do may create, as shown, a virtually insurmountable 

presumption in an agency's favor that is contrary to the purpose of the 

Public Records Act, Chap. 42.56 RCW, and this Court's ruling: 

[F]ull access to information concerning the conduct of government 
on every level must be assured as a fundamental and necessary 
precondition to the sound governance of a free society. 

PAWS, 125 Wn.2d at 251. 

F. CONCLUSION 

In favoring the conclusory statements embedded within the 

District's affidavits, Division I disregarded the relevancy of the 

District's repeated untimely productions and ignored substantial 

evidence of its inadequate searches. Hood therefore requests this Court 

accept review to establish the evidentiary standards required for an

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