RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Dec 12, 2016, 1:22 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Supreme Court No. 93819-9 Court of Appeals No. 73165-3-I

Eric Hood,

Petitioner,

v.

South Whidbey School District,

Respondent

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

BAKER & McKENZIE LLP Laura K. Clinton, wsba #29846 815 Connecticut Avenue, NW Washington, DC 20006 Telephone: (202) 452-7023 laura.clinton@bakermckenzie.com

Attorneys for Respondent South Whidbey School District

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

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

The Petition does not present a legitimate basis for Supreme Court review under either RAP 13.4(b)(1) or RAP 13.4(b)(4). Hood claims that the Court of Appeals opinion conflicts with prior holdings of this Court, and asserts that agency testimony in a PRA case should be held to "a higher evidentiary standard to ensure that agencies bear the proper burden of proof." Pet. at 7. Yet, there is no indication anywhere that the Court of Appeals failed to apply the proper evidentiary standards to the testimony of District witnesses or to properly allocate the burden of proof. Nor is there any support for Hood's contention that it is necessary for the Court

to create specialized standards for agency testimony in PRA cases and that such standards are an issue of material public importance. The Petition fails to satisfy either of the asserted criteria for this Court's review and it should be dismissed.

A. The Court of Appeals Opinion Does Not Conflict with Prior Rulings Concerning the Public Records Act.

There is no conflict between the Court of Appeals decision and any ruling of this Court. To the contrary, it is black-letter law that Washington public agencies must conduct reasonably adequate searches in response to records requests, and that the touchstone for evaluating the adequacy of an agency's search is reasonableness. Neighborhood All. of Spokane Cty. v. Spokane Cty., 172 Wn.2d 702, 720, 261 P.3d 119 (2011) ("The adequacy of a search is judged by a standard of reasonableness, that is, the search must be reasonably calculated to uncover all relevant documents."). Reasonableness, in turn, is inherently a fact-specific inquiry: "What will be considered reasonable will depend on the facts of each case." Id. at 720; see also Bartz v. Dep't of Corrs. Disclosure Unit, 173 Wn. App. 522, 533, 540, 297 P.3d 737 (2013) (affirming dismissal under CR 12(b)(6) where DOC conducted reasonable search); Francis v. Wash. Dep't of Corrs., 178 Wn. App. 42, 63, 313 P.3d 457 (2014) (inadequate search where DOC spent no more than 15 minutes on request, failed to check any

usual record storage locations, and offered no explanation for perfunctory search).

Hood contends that the testimony of District witnesses in this case regarding the searches they conducted was conclusory and not subject to sufficient judicial examination, to such a degree that the Court of Appeals opinion conflicts with this Court's prior rulings that agencies "may rely on reasonably detailed, nonconclusory affidavits submitted in good faith." Pet at 8. This contention is demonstrably wrong.

The record details the huge outlays of staff and attorney time expended to identify, locate, and produce records to Hood. *See*, *e.g.*, CP 418–28; CP 718–20; CP 722; CP 728; CP 2794–99; CP 2811–20; CP 2864–67; CP 3042 at 18:10–21:12; CP 3044 at 29:8–18; CP 3046 at 35:5–15; CP 3051. The District's searches were reasonably calculated to collect all responsive public records. *Id.* With very few exceptions, the District's searches did in fact locate responsive documents, and it disclosed (either by exemption log or production) the responsive records that it found. *See*, *e.g.*, CP 2811–14 (Moccia, describing searches and productions); *see also Lazaridis v. U.S. Dep't of State*, 934 F. Supp. 2d 21, 31 (D.D.C. 2013) (agency demonstrated reasonable search where declarant described searches that located 212 responsive documents) (FOIA decision).

Here, the trial court examined the sworn statements of the District's witnesses carefully, in the context of the entire voluminous record, before finding that the District's searches were undertaken in good faith and were reasonable. *See* FF 35 (the District's "searches for records were reasonable . . . The testimony of the District witnesses on these issues is credible, and Hood's contrary allegations lack record support."). In response to Hood's challenges on appeal, the Court of Appeals again reviewed in detail the testimony concerning the District's searches, devoting a substantial portion of its Opinion to that review. COA Slip Op. at 11–22. Upon review, the Court of Appeals found that District employees offered "nonconclusory declarations" that "provide[d] significant detail about the type of search performed, the search terms utilized, and the locations searched." *Id.* at 20.

Hood's suggestion that the Court of Appeals unwittingly deferred to the District under traditional Administrative Procedure Act doctrine is unsupportable. *See* Pet. at 9 n.10. To the contrary, the Court of Appeals was absolutely clear that its review of both the District's actions and the trial court's findings was de novo. *See* COA Slip Op. at 10–11 (declining to apply any deference to the trial court's findings under "the principles from "cases such as <u>Dolan</u> and <u>Rideout</u> when reviewing PRA decisions where the trial court resolved disputed factual issues," and instead

reviewing record de novo under *PAWS*). The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with any decision of this Court.

B. Hood's Continued Attacks on the Credibility of the District's Witnesses Do Not Present Any Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

The Petition does not present any issue of substantial public interest meriting review. *Contra*, Pet. at 10 n.11 (invoking RAP 13.4(b)(4)). Hood complains, without specifying further, that District witness declarations "are comprised of hundreds of statements, some of which are obviously conclusory." Pet. at 8. He asks the Court to set a new, unarticulated standard for the number of "conclusory" statements in a declaration that will render the witness testimony inadmissible in a PRA case. *Id.* at 11 (asking "how many, if any, conclusory statements should courts accept in a single affidavit? And how many, if any, conclusory or partially conclusory affidavits should determine whether an agency's total affidavits are cumulatively conclusory?"). These assertions do not raise an issue of public importance that should be decided by this Court.

To the contrary, Hood's allegations about the District's "carefully crafted conclusory statements" are simply credibility arguments. Pet. at 11 et seq. His assertions about the District's motives and his

characterization of its searches and the failure of its email program,⁴ which comprise the balance of the Petition, have already been determined against him by two courts on de novo review of the District's actions. *See* FF 35; COA Slip Op. at 11–22; *see also*, *e.g.*, *Carney v. U.S. Dep't of Justice*, 19 F.3d 807, 812 (2nd Cir. 1994) (requestor speculation does not overcome agency evidence of adequate and reasonable search).

Before the lower courts, and without a scintilla of evidence in support, Hood repeatedly asserted that the District had destroyed or was silently withholding records in bad faith. But the District had no motive to hide records from Hood, and even he admitted that the documents he thought would contain evidence of nefarious intent surrounding his termination were completely innocuous. FF 57. *Cf. Neighborhood All.*, 172 Wn.2d at 721–22 (agency search was limited to single new computer: "the only place a complete electronic record could not be found"). His unsupported allegations that District witnesses had engaged in fraud and perjury resulted in sanctions by the federal court. CP 750–58.

_

⁴ Hood's implication that the District knowingly allowed its email system to destroy responsive records rather than produce them to him is not supported by any evidence. *Cf.* CP 2796–97; CP 711–12 (Miller). His related claims about public record retention schedules are irrelevant. *See e.g., West v. Wash. State Dep't of Nat. Res.*, 163 Wn. App. 235, 245, 258 P.2d 78 (2011) (rejecting argument that failure to retain emails violated records retention act and thus the PRA) (citing *Bldg. Indus. Ass'n of Wash. v. McCarthy*, 152 Wn. App. 720, 218 P.3d 196 (2009)).

Hood offered the trial court and the Court of Appeals his own self-serving speculation that the District was negligent in its searches, but this was woefully inadequate. *Frederick S. Wyle Prof'l Corp. v. Texaco, Inc.*, 764 F.2d 604, 612 (9th Cir. 1985) ("[B]ald assertions, absent any evidentiary base, are insufficient . . ."). He offers the same to this Court, but this is insufficient to present an issue of public importance. Hood's allegations that some portions of some witness testimony was conclusory are not sufficient to invoke this Court's review.

CONCLUSION

The Petition should be denied.